1 Alex Ghibaud, Esq.
Bar No. 10592
2 **ALEX B. GHIBAUDO, PC.**
703 South 8th St.
3 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
T: (702) 978-7090
4 F: (702) 924-6553
Email: alex@abgpc.com
5 *Attorney for Appellant*

Electronically Filed
Aug 23 2019 11:15 a.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

6 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA**

7 YOAV EGOSI,

Case. No.: 76144

8 Appellant,

Dist. Ct.

Case. No.: D-16-540174-D

9 vs.

10 PATRICIA EGOSI,

**APPELLANT'S SECOND
AMENDED OPENING BRIEF**

11 Respondent.

12
13 **APPEAL**

14 From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada

15 The Honorable Bryce Duckworth, District Court Judge, Family Division
16
17
18
19
20

Jurisdictional Statement

This is an appeal from the district court’s order granting Respondent’s motion to invalidate the prenuptial agreement and the district court’s order denying Appellant’s motion to relocate with the minor child. On September 4th, 2018 notice of entry occurred as to the district court’s order partially invalidating the prenuptial agreement. On September 7th, 2018 notice of entry of order occurred as to the district court’s denial of Appellant’s motion to relocate. Appellant timely filed his notice of appeal from both orders. Both orders are final judgments.

DATED this 21st day of February, 2019.

/s/ Alex Ghibaud

ALEX B. GHIBAUDO, Nevada Bar No. 10592
ALEX B. GHIBAUDO, PC
Email: alex@abgpc.com
Attorney for Appellant





Statement of the Case

The genesis of this litigation is a divorce action filed by Respondent Patricia Egosi (“Patricia”). At issue is a prenuptial agreement the parties executed in Georgia¹ and Appellant Yoav Egosi’s (“Joe”) petition to relocate with the minor child to Israel, where Joe was born.²

The parties married on the 28th of September, 2008 in Georgia. They have one minor child, Benjamin Egosi (“Ben”), born January 14th, 2014. The matter of custody was decided on September 8th, 2017 where Joe was awarded sole legal and sole physical custody of Ben. At the time of the Evidentiary Hearing on custody, Patricia was incarcerated at the Clark County Detention Center for repeatedly violating a temporary protection order against domestic violence. Patricia also previously failed to complete the OPTIONS program (Patricia has been diagnosed with a severe drug addiction – Methamphetamines).

On June 6th, 2018 Joe filed a motion to relocate with Ben to Israel. On August 31st, 2018 an evidentiary hearing was conducted on Joe’s petition. On September 7th, 2018 the district court denied Joe’s petition despite the fact that Joe continues to enjoy sole legal and sole physical custody, due in

¹ See Appellant Appendix (“AA”) Vol. 1 at pages 001-014.

² See AA Vols. 6-10 – pages 419-730.

1 large part to Patricia’s continued failure to complete the OPTIONS
2 program.³

3 On June 13th and 14th, 2017 an evidentiary hearing was conducted on
4 Patricia’s motion to invalidate the prenuptial agreement the parties
5 previously executed. At the conclusion of that hearing the district court
6 found that there was no fraud, duress, mistake, changed circumstances, and
7 the agreement was not unconscionable.⁴ The district court, therefore,
8 validated the prenuptial agreement.

9 Under Georgia law, which the parties chose as the State whose laws
10 govern the enforcement of the prenuptial agreement,⁵ the district court,
11 “sitting in equity”, may invalidate the agreement in whole, accept it in
12 whole, or accept it in part. Invoking that rule, the district court here only
13 validated the agreement in part, refusing to consider an after acquired
14 business as falling within the purview of the prenuptial agreement, which
15 would otherwise be protected according to the terms of the prenuptial
16 agreement.

17 ///

18 ///

19 _____
20 ³ See AA Vol. 6 at pages 417-418.

⁴ See AA Vol. 6 at page 412 – line 26 (through page 414 – line 14).

⁵ See AA Vol. 1 at page 005 – paragraph 25.

1 Joe now challenges both decisions. Joe contends that the district
2 abused its discretion in denying his petition to relocate to Israel with Ben
3 and the district court erred in its decision concerning the prenuptial
4 agreement by failing to establish any equitable grounds for relief and
5 fundamentally misapprehending equity jurisdiction.

6 7 **Statement of Facts**

8 **I. FACTS CONCERNING THE PRENUPTIAL AGREEMENT.**

9 On June 13th and 14th of 2017, the district court held an evidentiary
10 hearing concerning the prenuptial agreement the parties executed in Georgia.
11 At the conclusion of that hearing, the district court made its findings of fact
12 and rendered its conclusions of law, ruling that the prenuptial agreement was
13 enforceable, but only electing to enforce it in part. In coming to that
14 conclusion, the court found no fraud, duress, or mistake of fact, stating:

15 *So as I look at the [Shere] prongs, the -- the factors that I'm*
16 *required to consider, I -- I have to determine first whether the*
17 *antenuptial agreement -- well, and -- and the -- the burden of*
18 *proof is that the Plaintiff -- or the Defendant needs to prove that*
19 *the antenuptial agreement was not the result of fraud, duress,*
20 *mistake, misrepresentation, or non-disclosure or material facts.*



1 *I don't find based on the testimony and my evaluation*
2 *regarding the credibility of the witnesses that there was any*
3 *fraud or duress, mistake, or misrepresentation.* (Emphasis
4 Added).⁶

5 On the last point made, Patricia testified that (a) she did not "speak, read,
6 write English", (b) that the first time she saw the prenuptial agreement was
7 on the day she signed it, (c) that she had no idea what a prenuptial agreement
8 was at the time she was presented it, and (d) that she had no time to review it
9 with counsel was simply not true.⁷ Indeed, Plaintiff speaks and understands
10 English just fine, she saw the prenuptial agreement some 6 months prior to
11 signing it, she in fact knew exactly what the prenuptial agreement was, and
12 she did have an opportunity to discuss the terms of the prenuptial agreement
13 with a licensed attorney, all contrary to her testimony under oath.

14 The district court took note of Patricia's lack of credibility in
15 rendering its decision, making the following findings:

16 *[The Court's] findings and conclusions are based on...[its]*
17 *determinations regarding issues of demeanor and credibility.*⁸
18

19 ⁶ See AA Vol. 6 at page 383 – line 18.

20 ⁷ See AA Vol. 1 at page 036 – line 16.

21 ⁸ See AA Vol. 6 at page 394 – line 23.





1 With respect to specific findings regarding credibility, the
2 district court found as follows:

3 *[The prenuptial agreement] was reprinted with changes that did*
4 *not materially impact the underlying issues regarding the*
5 *enforceability of the prenuptial agreement, that the Plaintiff had*
6 *that in her possession, had the opportunity certainly to read it,*
7 *to have it translated to the -- to the extent she felt it was*
8 *warranted, had the opportunity to review it with an attorney, an*
9 *attorney who advised against her signing the prenuptial*
10 *agreement and who explained at least in general terms the*
11 *meanings of the prenuptial agreement. I find that to be credible.*⁹

12 The district court further found:

13 *Now I also find credible based on the testimony that's been*
14 *offered that the Defendant was unaware that this advice was*
15 *being sought. and so it's consistent with the fact that she viewed*
16 *this somewhat objectively and said I would recommend against*
17 *signing it.*¹⁰

20 ⁹ See AA Vol. 6 at page 384 – line 15.

¹⁰ See AA Vol. 6 at page 385 – line 15.



1 Thus, Patricia approached the signing of the prenuptial agreement
2 independent of any influence on Joe's part, objectively, and under no duress
3 or time pressure.

4 As to Patricia's intentions, the district court found that at the time,
5 they were honorable and made out of love and affection for Joe, obviating
6 the need to discover the true value of any of Joe's assets. In that respect, the
7 district court made the following findings:

8 *The testimony suggests to me that dollar value or not, the*
9 *Plaintiff made it clear that that was irrelevant to her -- her*
10 *intentions to both sign the premarital agreement and -- and get*
11 *married. She was in love, wanted to prove her love to the*
12 *Defendant, and that was inconsequential to her whatever value*
13 *the Defendant had put on those assets, that was her testimony*
14 *that she -- it was not material to her decision to sign or not sign.*¹¹

15 Though the district court found that Patricia did not care to know the
16 true value of any assets belonging to Joe, it also found she had enough
17 information to come to a reasonable conclusion concerning Joe's assets due
18 to her close involvement with Joe and his business(es):

19
20

¹¹ See AA Vol. 6 at page 387 – line 9.

1 [T]he Plaintiff had been in the business enough, was familiar
2 with what was being derived from the business because she was
3 living the lifestyle that the business was able to generate and that
4 she had access and the ability to obtain that information. It
5 ultimately was disclosed on the date the prenuptial agreement
6 was signed and it was listed as a specific asset. I don't find that
7 the failure to include Plaintiff's assets, which I know that there's
8 been some debate and discussion even during these proceedings
9 that it wasn't listed in financial disclosure forms that have been
10 filed with this court, that's not a fatal flaw or -- or a defective
11 point that would create a basis for this Court to invalidate the
12 prenuptial agreement and the -- the Defendant has
13 acknowledged that that would be her sole and separate property
14 and he's not trying to argue that -- that it wouldn't be because
15 there was no disclosure form.¹²

16 Upon the aforementioned findings, among others, the district court
17 rendered the following conclusions of law (though framed as findings):

18 So I do find based on the [Sherer] factors that there was -- that -
19 - **that the Defendant has satisfied his burden to demonstration**

20
- -

¹² See AA Vol. 6 at page 388 – line 24.



1 that the antenuptial agreement was not the result of fraud,
2 duress, mistake, misrepresentation, or non-disclosure of
3 material facts...Similarly, I -- I find that he's demonstrated that
4 the agreement is not unconscionable. (Emphasis added).¹³

5 Despite this, however, the district court went on to conclude that:
6 *What I do find and given the discretion that I do have is there*
7 *should be a limiting aspect to the enforceability of the terms of*
8 *the prenuptial agreement. First, the only assets I view as being*
9 *protected by the prenuptial agreement are the four assets listed*
10 *in the -- in the exhibit attached to the prenuptial agreement.*

11 *There has been debate and discussion about bank accounts not*
12 *being disclosed on both sides. I -- I don't view -- and -- and so I*
13 *don't view this prenuptial agreement and I would not apply it*
14 *given that discretion that I have to approve in whole or part. I*
15 *don't view the agreement as protecting bank accounts or bank*
16 *account information. A -- and as far as the Court's division of*
17 *assets and debts or view of what should be divided by the Court*
18 *and the final -- final division of assets. It's limit -- limited to the*
19 *specific assets that -- that have been referenced and no other*

20
- -

¹³ See AA Vol. 6 at page 389 – line 17.



1 *assets are included as part of my -- the protection that's offered*
2 *by the prenuptial agreement.* (Emphasis added).¹⁴

3 The operative effect of this ruling was that any after acquired asset is
4 presumed to be community property, essentially gutting the prenuptial
5 agreement and neutering it.

6 The order from that hearing was not filed until after Joe's motion to
7 reconsider was decided because prior counsel failed to prepare an order from
8 that hearing. The district court directed Joe's counsel to prepare an order
9 from that hearing. Undersigned counsel did so, submitted it to the district
10 court, and more than two (2) months after the draft order was submitted, on
11 September 4th, 2018 the district court authored its own "Findings of Fact,
12 Conclusions of Law and Orders."¹⁵

13 In that decision, the district court put the burden of proof and
14 persuasion to validate the contract on Joe, despite the fact that Patricia
15 brought the motion. Additionally, **despite having made no such findings**
16 **after the June 13th and 14th, 2017 evidentiary hearing**, the district court
17 found that:

20 ¹⁴ See AA Vol. 6 at page 392 – line 23.

21 ¹⁵ See AA Vol. 6 at page 406



1 *[a]dditional equitable factors include Defendant's superior*
2 *financial position at the time of the marriage as well as the fact*
3 *that, although Plaintiff sufficiently understood the agreement,*
4 *Defendant had a superior grasp of the terms and language of the*
5 *prenuptial agreement.*¹⁶

6 Based upon these “equitable factors” the district court limited the agreement
7 to the preservation as separate property those assets that were specifically
8 disclosed at the time the prenuptial agreement was executed.¹⁷

9 As the discussion below demonstrates, this is clear legal error which
10 this Court should reverse – in part because the district court failed to state
11 any equitable grounds upon which to base its exercise of discretion, aside
12 from concluding that it can exercise discretion, which is not legally
13 sufficient, and then, after being informed of its error, authoring an order
14 which listed two (2) “equitable factors” justifying its decision, which the
15 district court never uttered in its decision from the bench.

16
17 **II. FACTS CONCERNING JOE’S PETITION TO RELOCATE**
18 **WITH THE MINOR CHILD TO ISRAEL.**
19

20 ¹⁶ See AA Vol. 6 at page 409 – starting at line 7.

21 ¹⁷ See AA Vol. 6 at page 415 – line 19.





On November 1, 2016, a hearing was held on Patricia's motion for primary physical and joint legal custody of the minor child. At that hearing, the district court issued an order for an outsourced evaluation. Also, at that hearing, Patricia was ordered to have her visitation supervised and restricted in time after allegations of rampant drug use and mental health issues were identified and hardly disputed by the Patricia. In addition, Patricia was ordered to submit to a drug test which she subsequently failed to complete (on May 29, 2018 Patricia was ordered to restart the PATCH program through OPTIONS and to submit to a random drug test at ATI – the results are pending).

On February 1, 2017 Patricia submitted to a custody evaluation by Dr. John Paglini, Psy.D. The results of that evaluation are shocking. In her evaluation, Patricia reported to Dr. Paglini that "[she] did every drug you can imagine...I did coke, some crack, GHB, shrooms, mollies, and meth." She also reported that she began to snort/smoke (but not shoot up) methamphetamines in October 2012 and continued through August 2016, though she reports that she took a break when she was pregnant.

Patricia's last drug test results, reported by the OPTIONS program, indicate she tested positive for methamphetamines and alcohol as late as May of 2017. In addition, in its risk assessment OPTIONS determined that

1 the Plaintiff has a 78% chance of relapse related to drugs (identified as a
2 “problem risk”). The Plaintiff reported daily methamphetamine use that kept
3 her up for days in a row, caused multiple and violent instances of domestic
4 violence that she perpetrated against Joe (as well as Joe’s father, Yariv, the
5 child’s nanny Mayra Riveiro de Almeida, and the minor child – and in the
6 minor child’s presence), and resulted in extreme emotional outbursts, out of
7 control rage, anger, violence, and jealousy, and, generally, behavior that is
8 extreme and clearly out of control.¹⁸ The Plaintiff’s rage is so out of control
9 she was once involuntarily committed in 2016 after chasing Joe around the
10 house, threatening to kill him multiple times, and launching a 30 pound safe
11 against a door over 20 times to get to Joe and Yariv. In that incident, she
12 also struck Yariv and pulled a knife on responding officers.

13 Based on his extensive evaluation, Dr. Paglini diagnosed the Plaintiff
14 with: 1) severe amphetamine use disorder, 2) severe cocaine use disorder, 3)
15 major depressive disorder, 4) unspecified anxiety disorder, and 5)
16 borderline/histrionic disorder¹⁹ – number 1 and 2 was identified as in

17 _____
18 ¹⁸ See, generally, Dr. Paglini’s May 9, 2017 report.

19 ¹⁹ Borderline personality disorder is a mental illness marked by an ongoing
20 pattern of varying moods, self-image, and behavior. These symptoms often
result in impulsive actions and problems in relationships. People with
borderline personality disorder may experience intense episodes of anger,



“partial remission”, number 3 “in remission.” In addition, Dr. Paglini identified numerous risk factors related to the Plaintiff’s ability to parent her child, including: 1) long-term and repetitive use/experimentation with drugs, 2) low involvement with her oldest child Nedson, 3) violent history (self-reported) while high on drugs, particularly methamphetamines, 4) history of mental health issues that contribute to violent outbursts and erratic behavior (bashing her head against the wall, need for sex multiple times per day every day, severe insecurities, eating disorders, masturbating daily, violent outbursts and chronic drug use, self-destructive behavior, and impulsivity).

Based in part upon that evaluation, Patricia currently enjoys supervised visitation three times per week for a four (4) hour block of time –

depression, and anxiety that can last from a few hours to days. Borderline personality disorder has historically been viewed as difficult to treat. See National Institute of Mental Health –

<https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/topics/borderline-personality-disorder/index.shtml>.

Studies have found that children of mothers with borderline personality disorder are considered a high-risk group given the wide array of poor psychosocial outcomes that have been found in these children. See commentary "Methodological Challenges in Identifying Parenting Behaviors as Potential Targets for Intervention: Commentary on Stepp et al. (2011)" in Personal Discord, volume 8 on page 95.

1 a recommendation made by her own evaluator, Kathleen Berquist, LCSW.
2 Mrs. Berquist made that recommendation after concluding that “Patricia has,
3 and is likely to continue to have, difficulty with emotional volatility without
4 active and sustained treatment” in addition to expressing concern with the
5 Plaintiff’s penchant for becoming “emotionally dysregulated and violent
6 even when Benjamin was in the home.”

7 In addition to that, on January 20, 2017 Patricia was charged with a
8 violation of a temporary protective order, a misdemeanor charge (Case No.
9 17M00678X – Las Vegas Justice Court). On May 2, 2017 the Plaintiff
10 pleaded no contest to that charge and was sentenced to the following: no
11 contact with Joe and the minor child, stay out of trouble for one (1) year, and
12 a 180 day suspended sentence. On April 17, 2017 the Plaintiff was charged
13 with yet another misdemeanor count for violating a temporary protective
14 order (Case No. 17M08379X – Las Vegas Justice Court). On August 15,
15 2017 the Plaintiff was adjudicated guilty of violating the no contact order in
16 the previous matter, mentioned above, and sentenced to 6 months in custody
17 at the Clark County Detention Center.

18 As indicated above, as of her release from custody this year, the
19 Patricia enjoys supervised visitation three times a week, every week, for four
20



1 (4) hours a day.²⁰ Since Patricia does not have a valid driver's license or
2 transportation, Joe facilitates these visits and has arranged for a supervisor
3 recommended by the Israeli Embassy to watch the child while he is in his
4 mother's care and custody. Other than her very minimal and supervised
5 visits, Joe has taken on the role of primary caregiver for every facet of Ben's
6 life, including emotional and financial support.

7 Based upon Dr. Paglini's evaluation and Patricia's incarceration for
8 violating multiple temporary protective orders against domestic violence, on
9 September 8th, 2017, an evidentiary hearing was conducted on Patricia's
10 motion. Patricia was not present because she was incarcerated. Joe was
11 awarded sole legal and sole physical custody of Ben.²¹ Patricia subsequently
12 moved to modify custody but that motion was denied in part because
13 Patricia failed to restart and complete court ordered drug testing through the
14 OPTIONS program.

15 On August 31st, 2018, an evidentiary hearing was held on Joe's
16 motion to relocate with the minor child to Israel. On September 7th,
17
18
19

20 ²⁰ See AA Vol. 6 at pages 417-418.

²¹ See AA Vol. 6 at page 418 – line 5.



1 2018, the district court entered an order denying Joe’s motion. Joe now
2 appeals that decision, alleging that the district court made various legal
3 errors and abused its discretion in reaching its decision, as detailed below.

4 In reaching its decision, the district court proceeded under a rule
5 designed to consider relocation where a parent enjoys primary physical
6 custody. The district court stated:

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