IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

YOAV EGOSI,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Oct 07 2019 11:49 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

VS.

PATRICIA EGOSI,

Respondent.

Case No. 76144

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal from two Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law entered by the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada

The Honorable Bryce Duckworth, District Court Judge, Family Division

District Court Case D-16-540174-D

Blackmon Law Group

John R. Blackmon, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 13665 4145 W. Teco Avenue Las Vegas, NV 89118

Telephone: (702) 475-5606 Facsimile: (702) 475-6512 jblackmon@blackmonlawgroup.com Attorney for Respondent Patricia Egosi

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant asks this Court to overturn the district court's decisions on three issues: (1) limiting the prenuptial agreement; (2) refusing to apply California law to a Nevada relocation case when Appellant enjoys primary physical custody; and (3) erring in its application of various facts to the relocation factors. On each of these issues, the district court's decisions were discretionary decisions, and were amply supported by the facts as heard by the district at each of the evidentiary hearings it held on the matter.

Appellant argues the district court misunderstood equity in its application of Georgia law to the parties prenuptial agreement.⁴⁵ The prenuptial agreement contained a choice of law provision, conveying that Georgia Law would apply to the enforcement of the prenuptial agreement.⁴⁶ The district court conducted an evidentiary hearing on June 13th and 14th, 2017 to determine the enforceability of the prenuptial agreement.⁴⁷ The district court not only reviewed extensive briefing on

⁴⁵ See Appellant's Second Opening Brief at 17-26.

⁴⁶ 1AA005

⁴⁷ 6AA406-416.

the issue, it heard from an expert, Shiel Edlin, Esq., testimony on a trial court's powers under Georgia law whether to enforce, or otherwise potentially modify, a prenuptial agreement.⁴⁸

After the evidentiary hearing, the district court determined that under Georgia law, a court must first determine the validity of the prenuptial agreement by identifying three factors: (1) whether the agreement was procured by fraud, duress, or mistake, or through misrepresentation or nondisclosure of material facts; (2) whether the agreement is unconscionable, and (3) whether facts and circumstances changed since the agreement was executed, to make its enforcement unfair and unreasonable.⁴⁹ Georgia law, however, still allows for a court to approve a prenuptial agreement, in whole, or in part. 50

After hearing all the evidence, the district court held that while it believed the agreement was valid, it maintained concerns on simply approving the entirety of the prenuptial agreement.⁵¹ Based on five enumerated concerns, the district court limited the prenuptial agreement to cover only and protect those assets disclosed by

⁴⁸ 6AA407.

⁴⁹ 6AA412; Scherer v. Scherer, 249 GA 521, 522-23, 603 S.E. 2d 273 (1982).

⁵⁰ 6AA412-413; Alexander v. Alexander, 279 Ga. 116, 117-18, 610 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2005).

⁵¹ 6AA414.

Appellant in the prenuptial agreement appendix.⁵² It approved the remainder of the prenuptial agreement.⁵³ When coming to this conclusion, the district court outlined the case law and relevant facts over several pages.

Appellant's argument that the district court misunderstood equity is incorrect. Appellant seeks to force the district court into taking a black and white approach to a complex, and detailed case. Appellant does so by glossing over the district court's stated concerns about validating the agreement as a whole, and its enumerated concerns about the prenuptial agreement. And Appellant argues that district courts in Georgia are bound by contract law on mutual mistake. That said, a district court's equitable powers in modifying a prenuptial agreement allows it to ignore other contract principles, such as ignoring severability clauses, and having special disclosure requirements.⁵⁴ Thus, given the district court's broad discretion in these matters, its decision to limit the scope of the prenuptial agreement was not legal error. The district court did not disregard controlling law, and this Court can find ample support in both the facts and the law to support the district court's equitable decision.

⁵² *Id*.

⁵³ *Id*.

⁵⁴ Alexander, 279 Ga. at 117, 610 S.E.2d at 50.

Second, Appellant argues that California law should apply in relocation cases because the district court awarded Appellant sole legal and sole physical custody of the minor child. This Court has defined all custodial designations in Nevada, which have subsequently become statute. A party may have joint or sole legal custody, and joint or primary physical custody only. ⁵⁵ A parent who exercises custodial time with the child less than forty percent of the time has visitation rights, with the other parent being the primary physical custodian. ⁵⁶ In contrast, California defines physical custody in terms of joint and sole physical custody. ⁵⁷ California does not use the term primary physical custody. So, Appellant's actual argument is that this Court should set aside decades of relocation precedent, and disregard Nevada statute in favor of California's relocation standards. While Nevada often finds other states' laws persuasive, Nevada courts are bound to follow Nevada law. ⁵⁸ The district court

_

⁵⁵ See Rivero v. Rivero, 125 Nev. 410, 420, 216 P.3d 213, 221 (2009) ("To emphasize the distinctions between these two types of custody, and to provide clarity, we separately define legal custody, including joint and sole legal custody, and then we define physical custody, including joint physical and primary physical custody.") ⁵⁶ *Id.* at 428.

⁵⁷ Cal. Fam. Code § 3004 (West)(defining joint physical custody); Cal. Fam. Code § 3007 (West)(defining sole physical custody).

⁵⁸ See Rivero, 125 Nev. 410, 420 at n.2 ("Although out-of-state law is not controlling, we look to it as instructive and persuasive. As always, even if this court relies on an out-of-state law, Nevada law still controls in interpreting the decisions of this court.")

therefore did not, and could not have, legally erred in following and applying Nevada case law and Nevada statutory law.

Third, Appellant argues that the district court abused its discretion in its application of the facts adduced at the evidentiary hearing to Nevada law. But Appellant's long arguments about the impropriety of the district court's application of facts ignores that Appellant was not even able to meet the bare threshold showing under Nevada law to relocate. NRS 125C.007(1) requires a parent seeking to relocate to make threshold showings that a sensible good-faith reason for the move exists, that the move is not intended to deprive a parent of parent-time; that the best interests of the child are served by the relocation; and that the relocating parent will enjoy an actual advantage. In reviewing the facts, the district court could not make these findings. Moreover, even if Appellant made the appropriate showing, the district court made significant findings supporting its decision to deny Appellant's request to relocate with Ben. Appellant's request for this Court to re-weigh evidence cannot amount to an abuse of discretion.

STANDARD OF REVIEW ON APPEAL

In Georgia, a trial court "has discretion to approve [a prenuptial] agreement in whole or in part, or refuse to approve it as a whole." Thus, a reviewing court

⁵⁹ Lawrence v. Lawrence, 286 Ga. 309, 309, 687 S.E.2d 421, 422 (2009).

analyzes the trial courts decisions on the familiar abuse of discretion standard. In Georgia, a court only abuses its discretion with no evidence in the record to support such a decision.⁶⁰

Similarly, in Nevada reviewing courts analyze relocation and custodial decisions under an abuse of discretion standard. An abuse of discretion occurs only "when the district court bases its decision on a clearly erroneous factual determination or disregards controlling law." An abuse of discretion does not occur when an appellant requests the reviewing court to substitute its own judgment for that of the district court. Moreover, this Court "does not reweigh witness credibility or the weight of the evidence on appeal."

ARGUMENT

I. The district court's decision to limit the scope of the prenuptial agreement was an appropriate application of controlling law.

⁶⁰ Murray v. Murray, 299 Ga. 703, 705, 791 S.E.2d 816, 818 (2016); Anderson v. Svard, 282 Ga. 53, 644 S.E.2d 861 (2007).

⁶¹ Flynn v. Flynn, 120 Nev. 436, 444, 92 P.3d 1224, 1229 (2004).

⁶² LVMPD v. Blackjack Bonding, 131 Nev. 80, 89, 343 P.3d 608, 614 (2015).

⁶³ Schwartz v. Schwartz, 126 Nev. 87, 91, 225 P.3d 1273, 1276 (2010).

⁶⁴ Quintero v. McDonald, 116 Nev 1181, 11832, 14 P.3d 522, 523 (2000).

Georgia law allows a district court discretion to "sit in equity" and approve [a prenuptial] agreement in whole or in part, or refuse to approve it as a whole."⁶⁵ A district court is also not bound by contract principles, including severability clauses. ⁶⁶ When reviewing these decisions, a reviewing court will only overturn the district court's decision when there is no evidence in the record to support such a decision. ⁶⁷ The district court decided to uphold the prenuptial agreement, but made several findings that the only reason it was upholding the prenuptial agreement was because of its equitable decision to limit the scope of the prenuptial agreement. The district court's use of discretion is grounded in evidence in the record and should not be disturbed on appeal.

a. Georgia Law allows a district court to exercise discretion and approve only a portion of a prenuptial agreement.

The district court appropriately sat in equity and limited the enforceability of the prenuptial agreement consistent within the dictates of both Georgia and Nevada law. Unlike Nevada, Georgia law on prenuptial agreements is a creature born of case law. Under Georgia law, a prenuptial agreement that purports to settle alimony issues

⁶⁵ Alexander v. Alexander, 279 Ga. 116, 117, 610 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2005) citing Allen v. Allen, 260 Ga. 777, 778, 400 S.E.2d 15 (1991).

⁶⁶ Alexander, 279 Ga. at 17, 610 S.E.2d at 50.

⁶⁷ Murray, 299 Ga. at 705, 791 S.E.2d at 818.

is classified as an agreement "made in contemplation of divorce," not an agreement "made in contemplation of marriage." When reviewing whether a prenuptial agreement is enforceable, the party seeking enforcement bears the burden of proof to show that:

- (3) The antenuptial agreement was not the result of fraud, duress, mistake, misrepresentation, or nondisclosure of material facts;
- (2) The agreement is not unconscionable; and
- (3) Taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances, including changes beyond the parties' contemplation when the agreement was executed, enforcement of the antenuptial agreement would be neither unfair nor unreasonable.⁶⁹

Even if a court finds that all three factors are met, a district court still retains discretion to "approve the agreement in whole or in part, or refuse to approve it as a whole."⁷⁰ The existence of a prenuptial agreement is also a factor which determines a trial court's discretion to divide equitably the assets created and earned during the marriage. ⁷¹

⁶⁸ *Lawrence*, 286 GA at 311, 687 S.E.2d at 423. (citations omitted).

⁶⁹ See Lawrence, 286 Ga. at 312, 687 S.E.2d at 424, citing Scherer v. Scherer, 249 Ga. 635, 292 S.E.2d 662 (1982).

⁷⁰ Alexander v. Alexander, 279 Ga. 116, 117, 610 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2005) citing Allen v. Allen, 260 Ga. 777, 778, 400 S.E.2d 15 (1991).

⁷¹ Scherer, 249 Ga. at 640, 292 S.E.2d. 666-67.

Appellant's focus on the phrase "sitting in equity," and historical notions of equity, while noble, miss the significant discretion given to the district court to approve, disprove, or modify a prenuptial agreement. In a somewhat ironic twist, the quotes cited by Appellant note that notions of equity may vary from judge to judge. This significant discretion that is the critical inquiry. In making his analysis, Appellant artificially constrains the district court's decision and seeks to force the district court into a binary decision on each of the factors. Such a simple framework divests a trial court of the wide discretion that is explicitly set forth in Georgia case law. Indeed, this very nuance is why the district court determined that it needed to limit the scope of the prenuptial agreement, rather than simply approving it, or rejecting it, in whole.

The district court made many findings showing it had concerns with enforcing the prenuptial agreement as a whole. These concerns were most pronounced around the timing and limited nature of the disclosure of Appellant's assets and debts, including testimony that the disclosure was made almost

⁷² See Appellant's Opening Brief at 20-21 ("[E]quity is according to the conscience of him that is chancellor, and as that is larger or narrower, so is equity. 'Tis all one as if they should make thee standard for thee measure we call a foot, a Chancellor's foot; what an uncertain measure would this be? One Chancellor has a long foot, another a short foot, a third an indifferent foot: 'tis the same thing in a Chancellor's conscience.") (citations omitted).

immediately prior to the parties signing the prenuptial agreement.⁷³ In making its findings of fact, the district court noted that it only found the factor about disclosure, and substantive conscionability⁷⁴ satisfied because of its equitable power to limit the scope of the prenup.⁷⁵ While not explicit, this Court can infer that should the district court not have been able to limit the scope of the prenuptial agreement, its decision may well have been different.

The district court also noted that it also believed it was appropriate to factor in the parties' wealth disparity, and their differing comprehension of the English language in rendering its equitable decision. While Appellant has objected to the district court' including such a factor in its written findings, he has cited no basis on which such an inclusion would be an abuse of the district court's discretion when reducing its oral ruling to a written order.

_

⁷³ 5AA412-13; *See* 3AA155 (Appellant testifying to him adding the list of assets just prior to the signing of the decree); 5AA386-89 (Court's discussion regarding the disclosure and its impact on its decision.

⁷⁴ 5AA414 ("Nevertheless, and again taking into consideration the late disclosure of an inventory of listing of assets, such a finding and conclusion is limited to the disclosures attached to the agreement.")

⁷⁵ 5AA413 ("this is an equitable factor that should limit the application of the prenuptial agreement to those specific assets that were disclosed.")
⁷⁶ 5AA413-14.

That said, the above analysis is more than is required under the standard of review to uphold the district court's decision. Indeed, the standard is that a district court only abuses its discretion if no evidence in the record is present to support its decision.⁷⁷ The district court more than satisfied its burden to do so, and its decision to limit the scope of the prenuptial agreement should be upheld.

b. Georgia law allows district courts to disregard normal contract law in approving or disproving prenuptial agreements

When reviewing a prenuptial agreement and determining whether to approve, disprove, or modify the agreement, a district court is not bound by regular rules of contract law. Research In Alexander, a district court refused to enforce a prenuptial agreement entered into by the parties. The agreement itself contained an affirmative requirement the parties disclose assets to the other. The husband failed to disclose an investment account, the wife signed under duress, and the parties had a child, which the trial court found to be a change of circumstances. The trial court revealed it would invalidate the prenuptial agreement on any of those grounds. The

⁷⁷ *Murray*, 299 Ga. at 705, 791 S.E.2d at 818.

⁷⁸ *Alexander*, 279 Ga. at 117, 610 S.E.2d at 50.

⁷⁹ *Id.* at 116.

⁸⁰ *Id*.

⁸¹ *Id.* at 117

⁸² *Id*.

husband appealed, arguing, in part, that the prenuptial agreement contained a severability clause, and that under Georgia law, his failure to abide by the prenuptial agreement's provisions as it relates to the disclosure of assets, could be severed and could cure this fault.⁸³ The Supreme Court of Georgia disagreed. It held that even though Georgia law authorized a court to honor severability clauses, a trial court's authority to set aside an agreement was not bound by the severability provision, or to other terms of the contract.⁸⁴

on Appellant argues that the district court erred in approving only a portion of the prenuptial agreement. Appellant argues that equitable reformation of a contract is the law that should apply. Appellant also argues that for equitable reformation to occur, the district court must find that there existed mistake or fraud. Such an argument fails to comprehend and appreciate Georgia's view of a trial court's discretion and authority to sit in equity. Georgia does not require courts reviewing prenuptial agreements to be bound by the rules of contract law. Indeed, the Georgia Supreme Court disregarded the husband's contractual contentions in *Alexander*.

_

 $^{^{83}}$ *Id*

⁸⁴ *Id.* at 118.

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